1956

# Verne J. Oberhansly v. Travelers Insurance Co. : Brief of Appellant

Utah Supreme Court

### STATEMENT OF ISSUES

On September 28, 1953, defendant Travelers Insurance Company issued to LaMar Pearce Auto Mart its standard comprehensive liability policy with attached amendments (see Exhibit "A"), which policy was in force at the time of the accident hereinafter referred to.

On November 27, 1953, plaintiff sustained an injury while riding in a car registered in the name of Pearce's wife, but being driven by LaMar Pearce, President of Pearce Auto Mart, upon which he ultimately recovered a judgment for the sum of \$9,112.23. Pearce and his company were insolvent and unable to pay the judgment, whereupon plaintiff filed this action against



Travelers Insurance Company seeking to recover the amount of his judgment. Defendant defended the action upon three counts:

(1) That at the time of the accident plaintiff was either an employee of Pearce Auto Mart or it was an obligation for which the insured may be held liable under the Workmen's Compensation Law of this State and therefore expressly excluded under the terms of the policy.

(2) That the insured failed to cooperate with the insurer in the defense of the action and notwithstanding the company's request willfully and in violation of the terms of the policy Pearce failed and refused to attend the trial; failed to give evidence thereat as required by the terms and provisions of the policy.

(3) That Pearce and his business associate, Keith Oberhansly, brother of the plaintiff, conspired to render aid to plaintiff thereby assisting him in procuring the judgment by

- (a) permitting Keith Oberhansly, brother of plaintiff, to testify contrary to a written statement made by him on or about January 1, 1954, and
- (b) by defendant Pearce's refusal to attend the trial, to assist in the defense of the action and failing to offer himself as a witness in his own behalf and in behalf of the company.

A jury was impaneled but upon conclusion of all of the evidence plaintiff moved for an instructed verdict and defendant moved for judgment of dismissal. Both



parties having moved to take the case from the jury for the reason that there was no issuable facts to be presented to a jury, the Court thereupon dismissed the jury and thereafter made and entered findings of fact, conclusions of law and judgment in favor of plaintiff. Neither party is complaining as to the action of the Court in dismissing the jury.

## STATEMENT OF FACTS

As we view the record, there is no dispute as to the facts in this case. We shall briefly summarize these facts:

### **Status of Plaintiff First Defense**

While Keith Oberhansly was not formally admitted to the corporation as an officer or stockholder, yet it was the understanding of the parties that he would be made an officer of the company and share equally in the profits. He was working full time at the company's place of business under an agreement that he was to receive one-half of the profits derived from the operation of said business. His relationship to the company was characterized by Pearce as a partnership arrangement. Pearce Auto Mart was a dealer in used cars. As a part of its regular business it accepted for sale used cars from various owners delivered to it on consignment for sale upon a commission basis. Under this arrangement it had accepted a number of used cars from Spencer Auto Company of Evanston, Wyoming.

For convenience we shall hereafter designate Pearce as LaMar; his business associate as Keith, and the plaintiff as Verne.

LaMar and Keith were having financial difficulties and they decided to return two remaining unsold cars to Spencer Auto Company at Evanston, Wyoming. They called Verne and asked him if he would drive one of these cars. He indicated a willingness to do so and immediately thereafter came to the company's place of business, whereupon it was agreed between LaMar, Keith and Verne that Verne and Keith would drive the two consigned cars and LaMar would follow them in the insured car and bring them back to Ogden. The return of these cars constituted a part of the regular and customary business. In fact Verne had on at least one or two previous occasions performed a similar service. Verne stated that he would drive the car provided he was furnished sufficient money to defray the expenses incident to said trip. He was given \$10.00 and sufficient gas and oil was purchased by him at cost of between \$4.00 and \$5.00. Keith and Verne left Ogden about 3:00 o'clock P.M. and LaMar left some time later and overtook them at Echo Junction and then followed them to Evanston. The cars were delivered. The three then had dinner and then started on the return trip to Ogden. LaMar was the driver. The accident occurred at a point known as Devil's Gate in Weber Canyon during the course of the return journey. Verne sustained injuries which resulted in the judgment.

## Failure to Cooperate

### Second Defense

No report of the accident was submitted to defendant until after LaMar was served with a ten day summons on or about December 16, 1953. On January 7, 1954, as a part of an investigation concerning the accident, written statements were prepared and signed by both LaMar and Keith. These statements were written by one Wilde, an investigator employed by defendant, during the course of conversations related by them giving in detail the facts concerning the accident. The statements were in many respects quite similar. They first related the facts concerning the driving of the cars. Then in relating how the accident happened they stated that LaMar while rounding the S curve may have been driving faster than he should but that his driving at no time was erratic and that at all times he kept his car on his right hand side of the highway; that as he rounded the curve they observed for the first time a large truck about 70 feet distant travelling eastward and rounding the curve; that it was approaching on its left hand side of the highway immediately in front of LaMar; that in order to avoid a collision LaMar pulled quickly to his right off the travelled portion of the highway and struck the rocky precipitous wall which arose almost perpendicularly at the outer edge of the highway; that thereupon LaMar lost control of his car and struck the protective guard rail on the opposite side of the highway and that the striking of the guard rail was what caused Verne to sustain the injuries of which he complained.

Based upon these two written statements given freely by the two eye witnesses concerning the accident and who were incidentally the only known eye witnesses (as Verne was lying down in the back seat and did not see the accident), the insurance company believed that LaMar's negligence, if any, in driving faster than he should was not the proximate cause of the accident but that the intervening act of the driver of the eastbound truck in crowding them off the highway was the proximate cause of the accident and that consequently both LaMar and his company had a meritorious case. Defendant likewise concluded that there was a serious question as to whether or not the exclusion provision of its policy would apply in view of the facts outlined above as to the relationship of the parties. Defendant thereupon requested and received from LaMar a "Reservation of its Rights Agreement" and upon procuring the same it accepted the defense of the action. Shortly thereafter the business failed and LaMar left the State of Utah, presumably heavily indebted, knowing that the suit against him and the company was then pending in the court. His wife remained in Ogden for some time.

LaMar had employed an attorney, E. Morgan Wixom of Ogden, Utah, to represent him and the company concerning various legal problems in connection with the operation and winding up of the business and he also consulted with Wixom with respect to the signing of the Reservation of Rights Agreement. After leaving the State LaMar never communicated with the defendant or

let it know where he was residing and although his address was known to his wife, his father and Wixom, neither of these parties would reveal to defendant his whereabouts. The case was duly and regularly set for trial for November 18, 1954. Defendant had made several efforts to obtain LaMar's address without success. It had addressed letters both to the wife and to Wixom. The letter to the wife was returned unclaimed, she having in the meantime left Ogden. The letter to Wixom was never answered. Finally Attorney LeRoy B. Young, who was representing the defendant, learned that Wixom knew his address. Upon contacting Wixom he furnished Young the address upon condition that he Young would not reveal to anyone outside of his office this information, whereupon on September 28, 1954, Young wrote Pearce the following letter which was registered, to-wit:

“Mr. LaMar Pearce  
302 H. Street  
Antioch, California

“Re: Verne J. Oberhansly  
vs. LaMar Pearce

“Dear Mr. Pearce:

“Permit me to advise you that this case has been set for trial for November 18, 1954, at 10:00 o'clock A.M. I am writing you at this time so that you will have ample notice of the date and place of this trial. It is imperative that you be here by not later than November 17th and that you immediately report to our office upon your arrival so that we will have the benefit of a conference together in advance of trial.

“You realize, of course, that under the terms of your policy you are required to give full co-operation to the insurance company in the defense of this action.

“May I hear from you immediately so that I will know that you have received this letter and advise me if we can count on you being here on November 17, 1954.

“Yours very truly,

“YOUNG, THATCHER &  
GLASMANN

“LeRoy B. Young.”

LaMar received this letter on October 1, 1954. He never answered the same nor did he make any effort to contact the defendant. However, some time later LaMar's father called Young by phone and advised him that he had just talked to LaMar by phone and that LaMar had requested him to advise Young that he, LaMar, would not or could not come to the trial because of his job. Young then requested and obtained from the father a promise that he would call LaMar and explain to him the need of his being present and a request that he reconsider the matter and attend the trial. The father promised Young he would do so, and he did thereafter call LaMar and conveyed this message to him. However, LaMar did not write either Young or the insurance company and made no further explanation as to his intentions. As the time for the trial was approaching and Young not having received any direct reply to his letter or to the request relayed through the father, then con-



tacted Wixom and asked him to intercede and try to persuade LaMar to come. In compliance with this request Wixom on October 27, 1954, wrote LaMar the following letter:

“Dear LaMar:

“Mr. LeRoy B. Young has informed me that you advised him that you would not be present for the trial of the action brought against you and LaMar Pearce Auto Mart by Mr. Oberhansly for injuries he sustained in an automobile collision. I think LaMar that you should use every effort to make it to the trial. You are your own best witness and if you do not cooperate with your insurance company and appear at the trial, your chances to be reimbursed by the insurance are very slim.

“If it is money that bothers you and you cannot afford to get here, if you will write to Mr. Young and tell him, maybe the insurance company will pay your express although they are not obligated to do so.

“I hope that you are all getting along alright by now. Give my regards to your wife and best regards to you.

“Yours very truly,

“E. Morgan Wixom.”

LaMar admitted in his deposition, which was taken in California just before the trial of this action, that he received this letter. He further admitted that his reason for not coming was not due to the fact that he had not been tendered costs or expenses. LaMar did not reply to this letter written by his own attorney strongly ad-



vising him to appear at the trial, nor did he communicate with either defendant or Young. At no time did LaMar request or indicate that if a continuance were obtained he might arrange to be present. In fact in his deposition in reply to a direct question propounded by plaintiff's attorney, Mr. Alsup, he said:

"Q. Now why was it impossible for you to come to Ogden at the time you received this letter and were told when the trial was to be held?

A. Mainly from the standpoint of competition in any job or in any field of endeavor that you get into today you just—to go into your employer and tell him you are requested to appear at a trial 800 miles away and being more or less an unknown as far as he was concerned, it is not going to be anything but a reflection against your character and your ability. Keep on the job you are striving to do.

Q. Now state whether or not your leaving at that time would have jeopardized your chance at getting your promotion.

A. It would have jeopardized my chance definitely.

Q. Now would it have not been possible and easier for you to come to Ogden to this trial at a later date?

A. It could possibly have been arranged, yes. Still you must realize gentlemen, in this automobile business today, I mean not only in the automobile business, but in any business with competition such as it is, to leave a location for—it would have taken a week to have—

would have impaired my chances or could have disrupted my whole chance of remaining there as a steady employee.”

Later on LaMar made the following statement:

“Might I state this gentlemen, that frankly I thought my written statement, my signed written statement orally read would have taken care of my position being at the trial. I felt that that was sufficient. The facts were stated. That was what it amounts to.”

LaMar admitted that he never at any time wrote either Young or the insurance company requesting them to obtain a continuance of the trial nor advising them when he could appear if a continuation was obtained, nor did he inquire as to whether or not his written statement could be used in lieu of his appearance. It is fair to assume, we think, from his attitude and from his answers contained in the deposition that it was not a question of coming at some later date but that he had no intention of ever coming back to Utah to testify at the trial. He does not contend that he ever even so much as asked his employer if he might obtain a leave for a short time in order to enable him to appear as a witness in the trial. Instead of taking a week he could, of course, have come by air, attended a trial which only consumed two day's time and could have returned to his employment with an absence of not more than two days. Instead of doing this he took it upon himself to conclude that he would neither write the company nor its attorney nor would he appear at the trial.

It is important to bear this in mind by reason of some of the contentions being made by the plaintiff in this case.

On the date set for the trial LaMar did not appear. Defendant, however, did not do what many insurance companies have done when confronted with this situation. Defendant did not walk out and allow a default judgment to be entered for possibly \$50,000, but defendant conducted the best defense it could without any aid, assistance or testimony by LaMar and the jury returned a verdict for \$9,112.23.

At the time of the trial Verne called his brother Keith as a witness. His testimony was in certain respects totally at variance with his written statement. In the written statement both he and LaMar had stated that Verne was given \$10.00 and his dinner for driving the car. Nothing was said about his using this money for gas and oil and buying dinners for the three of them although the whole subject was discussed in detail with Wilde. He also stated that LaMar in rounding the curve swung wide over and into his left hand side of the highway and that the truck was approaching on its own side of the highway. He admitted that this testimony was in direct conflict with his written statements but had the effrontery to say he made untrue statements to the adjuster in an attempt to help LaMar. It is quite apparent therefore that without the help and assistance of LaMar and without the benefit of his testimony defendant could do nothing except to try to keep the damages as low as possible.

## STATEMENT OF POINTS

POINT 1. The Court erred in entering its Finding No. 5 for the reason that it is not supported by the evidence but is contrary to all of the evidence in the case.

POINT 2. The Court erred in entering the following portion of Finding No. 6:

“But he did not fail to cooperate with the defendant insurance company, nor did he fail to comply with the terms of said insurance contract,”

for the reason that said finding is not supported by the evidence in the case but is contrary to the uncontradicted evidence.

POINT 3. The Court erred in making and entering its Conclusion of Law No. 1 for the reason it is not supported by the evidence. It is contrary to all of the evidence in the case and is against law.

POINT 4. The Court erred in entering its judgment in favor of plaintiff for the sum of \$9,780.48 and in entering a judgment for any amount for the reason said judgment is not supported by the evidence but is contrary thereto and is against law.

POINT 5. The Court erred in not making and entering Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law and Judgment in favor of defendant and against plaintiff for the reason that such a judgment would be supported by all of the evidence and would be in accordance with law.

## ARGUMENT

POINT 1. THE COURT ERRED IN ENTERING ITS FINDING NO. 5 FOR THE REASON THAT IT IS NOT SUPPORTED BY THE EVIDENCE BUT IS CONTRARY TO ALL OF THE EVIDENCE IN THE CASE.

The Court found in Finding Number 5 “at the time plaintiff herein suffered said accidental injuries he was riding as a passenger in an automobile driven by said LaMar Pearce and he was not an employee of said insured within the meaning of that word as used in the policy and as quoted in paragraph 4 hereof, nor were the insureds liable for any injuries under any Workman’s Compensation Law.”

The provision of the policy relied upon by appellant is quoted in Finding Number 4, whereby there is excluded from the provisions of the policy (a) any employee of the insured while engaged in the employment of the insured, and (b) one whose injury benefits are payable or required to be provided under any Workman’s Compensation Law.

It is the position of the appellant that under the uncontradicted evidence plaintiff was an employee of Pearce Auto Mart both (a) under the common law, and (b) under the Workman’s Compensation Act of the State of Utah.

We think respondent will admit that if plaintiff was an employee of the Auto Mart while driving the automobile from Ogden to Evanston, that this relationship continued as a part of the same employment on the re-

turn trip so that we shall discuss this phase of the question from the relationship which was created in the first instance.

Under the admitted facts as outlined let us assume that plaintiff while driving this car from Ogden to Evanston had injured a third party through his negligent operation of the automobile. Can anyone doubt that that injured party could have recovered judgment against the Auto Mart? If so, it would be on the theory of respondeat superior. Let us further assume that the plaintiff had filed an application with the Industrial Commission of the State of Utah for an award for the injuries sustained by him. Can there be any doubt that he would have obtained an award from the Industrial Commission based upon the theory that he had sustained an injury arising out of or in the course of his employment?

We think not and yet recovery under either of the assumed stated facts would have to be upon the basis of a relationship of employer-employee or master and servant.

It is to be noted that the exclusion provision applies to any employee of the insured while engaged in the employment of the insured and also to anyone whose injury benefits are payable or required to be provided under any Workman's Compensation Law, so that the exclusion applies if under the laws of this State plaintiff was an employee of the insured or if he was includable



as an employee under the Workman's Compensation Act irrespective of whether his employer carried workman's compensation or not.

What facts are to be considered in defining the relationship of employer and employee under the common law as declared by this Court? We have a number of cases discussing this question. We shall cite a few of them.

Wahlen v. U.P.R.R., 50 Utah 450, 168 Pac. 99.

In this case the defendant contended that when deceased quit work in the mine the relationship of master and servant ceased to exist between him and the company and that when he boarded the man trip and at the time he was killed the relation between him and the company was that of a carrier and passenger rather than master and servant and therefore the assumption of risk rule had no application. This court in answering this proposition stated:

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