1956

## Verne J. Oberhansly v. Travelers Insurance Co. : Brief of Respondent

Utah Supreme Court

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

a job at the end of the work day. The court held that whereas the language of a workmen's compensation act should be liberally construed in favor of the injured workman and all reasonable doubt as to its meaning resolved in his favor, the exclusion clause of an insurance policy must be strictly construed against the insurer. The court then held that the death did not occur while deceased was engaged in the business of the insured, and that the exclusion provision was inapplicable.

In *Bean et al vs. Gibbens, et al*, a Kansas case, 265 P. 2d 1023, the defendant insurance company defended under an exclusion provision which provided that the policy did not apply to bodily injury, sickness, disease or death of any employee of the insured while engaged in the employment. The facts were that the insured was driving a truck and the truck broke down and he was in the process of towing it into a garage when he asked the deceased to assist him by driving the truck that was being towed for him. The deceased agreed to do so, and the insured instructed him fully as to how the truck was to be driven and directed and controlled him therein. The court held that the deceased was not an employee of the insured. It uses the following language:

“The real question was the fundamental relationship between Gibbens and Wilber under all the surrounding facts and circumstances. The word ‘employee’ as defined in the New Century Dictionary is:

“ ‘A person who is in the employ or regular working service of another, as a clerk, workman, etc.’

“Black’s Law Dictionary, 3d Ed., at page 657, defines the word ‘employee’ as follows:

“ ‘This word “is from the French, but has become somewhat naturalized in our language. Strictly and etymologically, it means ‘a person employed’, but in practice in the French language, it ordinarily is used to signify a person in some official employment, and as generally used with us, though perhaps not confined to any official employment, it is understood to mean some permanent employment or position.” ’

“On the same page Mr. Black defines the word ‘employ’ as follows:

‘To engage in one’s service; to use as an agent or substitute in transacting business; to commission and intrust with the management of one’s affairs; and, when used in respect to a servant or hired laborer, the term is equivalent to hiring, which implies a request and a contract for a compensation, and has but this one meaning when used in the ordinary affairs and business of life.’

“Also 56 CJS, Master and Servant, Paragraph 1, page 27, defines ‘employee’ as follows:

‘ “Employee has also been defined as a person in constant and continuous service, one who performs services for another for a financial consideration exclusive of casual employment.”

The court in concluding approved the following conclusion made by the trial court:

“ . . . . the task performed by said Wilbur Leroy Bean for defendant was occasional, incidental, casual and a neighborly act.”

and held that the exclusion provision did not apply.

You will note that in most of the cases above quoted, the

facts brought the parties closer to an employment situation than existed in our present case. Yet in each of them the court, relying in part upon the familiar rule of interpretation of insurance contracts, finds that no employment within the meaning of the word as contemplated by the parties to the insurance contract existed.

Assume for the sake of argument there is some efficacy to defendant's argument on this question and that there are instances where the facts in this case can be stretched to embrace an employment relationship. Nonetheless, the word "employee" is normally defined as a person who does service for another under a contract of hire. Thus, in *Stricker vs. Industrial Commission*, 55 Utah 603, 188 P. 849, the Utah court, after quoting the Workmen's Compensation Act definition of "employee" says:

"The statutory definition adds nothing to the generally accepted definition of 'employee'. An 'employee' is one who works for and under the control of another for hire."

Assume that definition were the unusual one rather than the one generally accepted. Still, under the rule of interpretation of insurance contracts quoted above, it is the one that should be adopted by the court, and in this case Oberhansley just doesn't fit into that definition. The service rendered by him was a casual, gratuitous, neighborly act and neither authority nor logic can make him an employee. We submit, therefore, that the court did not err in entering its Finding No. 5.

## POINT II.

The Court did not err in Entering its Finding No. 6

This point involves a question of whether or not the court should have found as a matter of law that the insured failed to cooperate with the insurance company, and hence that the insurance company is relieved of liability under its policy.

Counsel for defendant in its brief would have the court ignore the conduct of the insurance company in considering this point. They say that the court made no finding on the matter and therefore it is not before the Supreme Court. The court made a finding on the ultimate fact, and the ultimate fact was whether or not there was a failure of ~~consideration~~<sup>COOPERATION</sup>. It was not required to make a finding on any evidentiary fact, and the reason or reasons why it concluded that there was no lack of cooperation would be evidentiary.

The question of cooperation is a two-faceted question. It is impossible to consider that question without examining both the conduct of the insured and of the insurance company. Obviously, an insurance company cannot sit back and make no requests for cooperation and then complain because the insured failed to cooperate. Obviously, if it makes no request that the insured appear at the trial, it can't complain because the insured fails to appear. The insurance company must make some effort, and whenever in the law some effort is required, the law requires that that effort be a reasonable one. And by definition, reasonable effort means due diligence. The question, then, is a two-faceted one: (1) What, if anything, did the insurance company do to obtain the cooperation, and (2) In what manner, if at all, did the insured fail



to cooperate? We certainly do not agree that the conduct of the insurance company is in the nature of an estoppel which must be pleaded and proved by plaintiff. The defendant raised this defense: "We sought our insured's cooperation and he refused it." That defense placed in issue the question of how defendant sought its insured's cooperation.

This logic finds support in authority. The following language from *Traders & General Ins. Co. vs. Rudco Oil & Gas Co.*, 129 Fed. 2d 621, is typical of the language we find in the cases:

" . . . . the rights of the insurer (to control the defense of a suit on behalf of the insured) are not absolute, they are subject to moderation by the rule of right and justice. Exclusive authority to act does not necessarily mean the right to act arbitrarily (citing cases). The right to control the litigation in all of its aspects carries with it the correlative duty to exercise diligence, intelligence, good faith, honest and conscientious fidelity to the common interest of the parties (citing cases). When the insurer undertakes the defense of the claim or suit, it acts as the agent of its assured in virtue of the contract of insurance between the parties, and when a conflict of interest arises between the insurer, as agent, and assured, as principal, the insurer's conduct will be subject to closer scrutiny than that of the ordinary agent because of his adverse interest (citing cases)" (parenthesis added)

In *Jensen vs. Eureka Casualty Company*, 10 Cal. App. 2d 706, 52 P. 2d 540, the insured made a report of his accident to the insurance company. When he was served with the complaint and summons, he delivered them to the insurance company, and promptly responded to the notice sent

to his given address to appear and verify the answer. Then several months later, when the attorney desired to take his deposition, he could not be found and he was not located and did not appear at the trial. The court held that the insured had not failed to cooperate with the insurance company, and it used the following language:

“ . . . . . the violation of the cooperation clause of such an insurance policy by the insured, where the insurer is substantially prejudiced thereby, is a valid defense is well settled (citing cases). This rule, however, must be interpreted to assume that the insurer, diligently and in good faith, has complied with the terms and conditions of the policy.” (parenthesis added)

To the same effect, see *Pigg vs. International Indemnity Company*, a California case reported at 261 P. 486.

In *Rinnard vs. Northwestern Mutual Fire Association*, 187 Wash. 47, 59 P. 2d 1072, it was held not to constitute a breach of the cooperation clause of the policy where the insurer had informed the assured that his wife was a party to the action, and in response to a request by the assured, refused to accept the obligation of paying the assured other than his expenses in attending the trial, without compensation for the assured's lost time from work or for his wife's expenses, and where no steps were taken by the insurer to secure the deposition of the assured.

In *Finkle vs. Western Automobile Insurance Company*, a Missouri case reported at 26 SW 2d 843, the suit against the insurance company brought by the injured party who had recovered judgment against the insured was defended on

the grounds of want of cooperation. The insured turned the summons over to the insurance company, and shortly thereafter, the insurance company attorney took his deposition. At that time, the attorney told the insured they would have to be present at the trial to testify. Thereafter, at another meeting with the insureds, the attorney again impressed upon them the importance of their being present at the trial. The insureds left the state without informing the insurance company and never communicated with the attorney or with the company. Two weeks before trial date, the attorney wrote the insureds, advising them of the trial date and asking them to communicate with him at once. This letter was returned to the attorney undelivered, and the company began an immediate investigation to learn the whereabouts of the insureds but could not locate them for trial. The court held there was not a lack of cooperation, and it said:

“What constitutes ‘cooperation’ within a policy requiring the assured to cooperate with the insurer in the defense of an action brought against him is usually a question of fact (citing cases).

. . . . .

“Now in the case at bar, so long as they were in the city, defendants seem to have cooperated very fully with the garnishee, and to have acceded to every request for assistance which its counsel made. They came willingly to Teasdale’s (the attorney) office when he expressed a desire to go over the case as a whole with them; they presented themselves in response to the notice to take depositions, and, if they were not cross-examined by Teasdale, it was through no fault of their own . . . . .

. . . . .

“Under such a situation, it appears that there are two ultimate questions to be determined: First, whether the assured was guilty of bad faith in leaving; and, second, whether the company exercised reasonable diligence in ascertaining his whereabouts, and in procuring his attendance at the trial, or his deposition for use in lieu of personal appearance.

. . . . .

“ . . . . we think it is an open question as to whether the garnishee used due diligence toward securing their attendance at court . . . . .

“Of all the reported cases that we have been able to find, the one perhaps most favorable to the garnishee is Schoenfeld vs. New Jersey Fidelity and Plate Glass Insurance Company, *supra*. There the assured had left this country for Russia, leaving no address where he might be communicated with, and, when the company was unable to locate him, it withdrew from the case, and allowed judgment to go against him by default. It is significant, however, that the company withdrew from the defense two months before the default was taken, and that its attempts to locate the assured had occurred over a long period of time prior thereto. Even upon such a state of facts, the court held that the question of the company’s good faith was for the jury to determine; and, if there was a jury question present in the Schoenfeld case, how much more pointed is the issue in the case at bar . . . . .”  
(parenthesis added)

In *Durbin vs. Lord*, an Illinois case reported in 68 *NE 2d* 537, there was held to be no lack of cooperation when the insurer did almost everything that could reasonably be done to secure the attendance at trial of insured, who had left the jurisdiction and could not be located.

In *Murphy vs. Hopkins, et al*, a South Dakota case in 4 NW 2d 801, in response to a request from the insurer that she appear at the trial, the insured wrote two letters. In the first she said that she had offered to have her deposition taken before leaving the town of trial and it was refused, and since the case had been continued once, she didn't see why it couldn't be continued again. In the second letter she said she couldn't come because of financial considerations. The insurer made no offer to pay her expenses, and the court held there was no lack of cooperation when she failed to appear at the trial.

In *Strode vs. Commercial Casualty Insurance Co.*, (Kentucky), 102 F. Supp. 240, the trial against insured was set for January 10, 1950. It was then continued, and the insured was so advised. On March 27th, an attorney for insured wrote the attorneys for the insurance company, advising them the insured's employment position would be jeopardized if she left town to appear for the trial, but she would be willing to give her deposition. The insurance attorneys acknowledged the letter and advised the attorney it would be vital for insured to attend the trial in person, as she was the only witness for the defendant. An offer was made to pay her expenses to the trial. The insured's attorney then wrote the insurance company attorneys that she could not attend in person because it would mean her job. The insurance company attorneys then wrote as follows: "If Mrs. Campbell (insured) refuses to attend the trial as indicated in your letter, we will withdraw from the defense of her case and not be responsible for any judgment rendered."

The case was set for trial on May 2nd. On April 27th,

the insurance attorneys wrote to the insured's attorney, with whom they had been corresponding, advising him of the trial date. They also wrote to another attorney in the same town, requesting of him that he try to locate the insured. This attorney wrote and advised that the insured had left town and left no forwarding address. When the insured failed to appear, the attorneys withdrew and defended the garnishment action of the grounds of failure to cooperate. The court said:

“The intentions of the parties at the time of inception of the contract was that there should be mutual assistance in defending any effort to obtain money from Mrs. Campbell growing out of her operation of the car described in the policy. The legal part of any claim for damages was to be left to the insurance company. It was to hold her harmless to the extent of the terms of the policy and to furnish all legal counsel required and to notify her when she was needed to assist. That was certainly the spirit and reasonable interpretation of the terms of the policy.

. . . . .

“It appears from the record that the defendant was only looking for an excuse to abandon its insured's case. Mrs. Campbell had given a perfectly rational explanation of why she could not attend the trial.

. . . . .

“Liability insurance between the company and its insured presupposes that the company will become the champion of its insured when misfortune, in the way of accident, overtakes her and she is sued. . . . It is something of a trust relationship where the interests of the insured and not the interest or convenience of the insurance company are paramount.



“An offer in compromise is shown to have been made by the plaintiff to the insurance company in the former case of *Strode vs. Campbell*, supra, before judgment in the Court of Appeals. Mrs. Campbell was not even advised that such offer had been made. This is not the kind of cooperation from the company which the insured had a right to expect.

“I am convinced, upon a careful consideration of the whole record, that Mrs. Campbell showed no sufficient lack of cooperation within the meaning of the policy to justify the company in abandoning her case. “It is apparent that the casualty company was much more concerned in finding an excuse to set up a legal barrier between it and its client than it was to fulfill its just obligations to save her harmless . . . .

. . . . .

“I must conclude that the defendant did not discharge its obligations under the terms of the policy to its insured, Mrs. Campbell, by making a genuine effort to protect her rights . . . .”

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